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Moderator Conrad Ferguson: In this session, our panelists will give you a brief overview of the new Consolidated
Standards of Practice (CSOP) Standard for Actuarial Evidence. I would like to point out that while the program says
“discussion draft,” the document is really at the exposure draft stage, and, at this stage, the intent is to determine whether
the standard meets the requirements of general acceptance by the profession. It is also an opportunity to fine-tune the
document before its final adoption. If there are major changes because of concerns expressed by practitioners, then the
document will be re-exposed and further discussed.

Our panelists will provide an overview of the exposure draft from two different perspectives. James (Jim) Paterson is a
semi-retired actuary who has had a long career as a consultant in our business. His involvement with the Canadian
Institute of Actuaries has also been extensive. This was in evidence yesterday as he was one of the recipients of the Gold
Volunteer Award. Jim was involved with the Committee on CSOP and was the liaison person for the development of
the Actuarial Evidence Standards. Our other panelist is Douglas (Doug) Townsend. Doug has been involved in the
actuarial evidence area as a sole practitioner for many years. He is currently the chairperson of the Committee on Actuarial
Evidence and has just finished his term as a member of the Practice Standards Council (PSC) representing issues related
to actuarial evidence. Doug will present an overview from the perspective of the Committee on Actuarial Evidence.

After the presentations, there will be sufficient time for discussion and comments, and please make your views known.
This is your opportunity to ask questions, get clarifications in person, and make your views known in a public forum.
Your participation is important. Good standards are developed by hearing what people have to say about those standards.
You will also have the opportunity to give your comments and questions in writing up until July 15, 2002.

I will now turn the session over to Jim, who will speak first. Doug will follow, and then we will open the floor to
discussion.

Mr. James G. Paterson: Thank you. I am hoping to establish a record of some sort here for the shortest formal presentation
on record. I have two overheads to get through.

This first slide is just to remind you of where we are in the process of developing the CSOP. The draft you are looking
at is based on the September 1988 CIA Recommendation for the Preparation of Actuarial Reports and the Presentation
of Evidence Before the Courts and Other Tribunals (1988 Standard), and the September, 1993 CIA Standard of Practice
for the Computation of the Capitalized Value of Pension Entitlements on Marriage Breakdown for Purposes of Lump-
Sum Equalization Payments (1993 Marriage Breakdown Standard). In developing the CSOP, we have broken what used
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to be entire bodies of standards for each of the practice areas into the General Standards that are common to all practice
areas, and separate practice-specific standards. We have translated the old standards into what you might call “CSOP
language,” which follows a particular style and format with defined terms, and so forth, in order to be consistent across
all pieces of CSOP. The work of translation was done by both committees. The Committee on CSOP did the initial
translation, and then sent it over to the practice committee, the Committee on Actuarial Evidence, who found lots to tell
us about. It went back and forth until we eventually reached a draft that was agreeable to all sides. We did that in
developing the discussion draft last year and then received lots of comments both at the June CIA Annual Meeting and
at the Seminar on Actuarial Evidence, and we are doing the same here with the exposure draft.

In the current exposure draft, there are relatively few new standards within the main consolidation of existing standards.
Where new standards have been inserted, we have tried to note it with a footnote so that you are aware of it.

Next, I would like to present a list of the changes from the current standards. They are to be found at the following
sections of the exposure draft of the CSOP:

• Section 4140.01 – It allows for exceptions to the general invoicing rule.

• Section 4160 – Here, we have inserted standard reporting language for actuarial reports and for actuarial reporting with
reservation.

• Section 4170 – Here, we have made provision for internal reports separate from external report standards and not allowing
abridged reports, which follows the approach used by the other practice areas.

• Section 4240.01 – This one is particularly interesting and it was the subject of a lot of discussion in which we give a pretty
broad definition or interpretation of accepted actuarial practice (AAP) for actuarial evidence work. In my view, it is a little
broader than the interpretation that is given in some other practice areas.

• Section 4330.02 – Rather than having the reference to the prescribed mortality table in the standard, the standard refers to
the use of the mortality table prescribed by the PSC from time to time. So, whenever that is updated, we don’t have to go through
a formal process of amending the standard. There will be some due process and consultation, but the process will be a little
less formal.

• Section 4400 – This is an entire section that wasn’t in the discussion draft dealing with computation of the criminal rate of
interest. It isn’t really new material. It appeared in earlier discussion drafts back in, I think, 1995. Is that about right?

Mr. Douglas C. Townsend: They were supposed to do a separate standard for it.

Mr. Paterson: At any rate, we picked up from that work and that has been added to the exposure draft now. So, for
some of you, that may be new material, and I hope you have looked at it and we look forward to your comments. With
this many people in attendance, I hope we hear from each one of you; it would be very useful.

There is one other thing that I should mention. The committee on CSOP is down to two pieces now – the actuarial
evidence and the insurers’ standard. We have a well-stocked subcommittee on insurance, but we would very much like
to add another actuarial evidence practitioner to help us with the last leg of this – to bring it into final form. Depending
on the comments today, I am hoping there won’t be too many changes, but it seems unnecessary for us to have specialists
from workers’ compensation, pensions, and other areas working on this when our real focus is on actuarial evidence.
Let us have an actuarial evidence group in here. So, if anyone is at all interested, please let me know because we would
like to get one more actuarial evidence practitioner. We have Bob Thiessen, who chairs the Subcommittee on Actuarial
Evidence, and he is a part-time actuarial evidence practitioner. I am on the subcommittee and I haven’t practiced actuarial
evidence in 15 years, but I used to do a lot of it. We want a current practitioner, please. Even though it is not a big
workload to finish this off, it would help us a lot.

Mr. Townsend: Jim was saying the section on the criminal rate of interest was added at the last minute and shall go down
in infamy forever as being the “Murray Segal” section of CSOP. The section on marriage breakdown calculations is
virtually unchanged from a draft that Wayne Woods did five or six years ago. So, we will call that the “Wayne Woods”
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section of CSOP. For the stuff dealing with civil litigation – you’ve heard the one about ‘the camel is a horse designed
by a committee’ – we had two committees working on that one, and so we have two camels, I suppose.

We need to remind ourselves periodically that we are trying to consolidate existing standards, not invent new ones. So,
let us start by looking at the existing standards that affect the work in the actuarial evidence area. The first two standards
listed up there are the obvious ones. I am going to be referring to them as the 1988 Standard and the 1993 Marriage
Breakdown Standard. We also need to recognize, today, that the General Standards of CSOP have had final approval
and are now an existing standard. So, the actuarial evidence-specific sections need to work within the framework of the
General Standards, which are in place. They need to work not only within the framework, but also within the principles
established by the general CSOP sections.

We also need to recognize that the actuarial evidence-specific sections of CSOP must work within established statute and
case law. The courts have respected the expertise of actuaries in many areas. However, we are not given any greater scope
than other experts when it comes to such things as the interest rate to be used in discounting future cash flows, or the
degree of objectivity expected of expert witnesses in the adversarial Canadian legal system.

An English judge was recently faced with an expert witness who was an accountant who came across as a hired gun
rather than an objective expert. The judge, in his decision, listed the court’s expectations for expert witnesses in general.
The seven points that were in his decision have since been endorsed by the English High Court, and recently have been
endorsed by Canadian courts as the courts’ expectation of an expert witness in general.

The seven points to note are:

1. Expert evidence presented to the court should be, and should be seen to be, the independent product of the expert,
uninfluenced as to form or content by the exigencies of litigation.

2. An expert witness should provide independent assistance to the court by way of objective unbiased opinion in relation to
matters within his or her expertise. An expert witness in the High Court should never assume the role of an advocate.

3. An expert witness should state the facts or assumptions upon which his opinion is based. He or she should not omit to consider
material facts which could detract from his or her concluded opinion.

4. An expert witness should make it clear when a particular question or issue falls outside his or her expertise.

5. If an expert’s opinion is not properly researched because (s)he considers that insufficient data are available, then this must
be stated with an indication that the opinion is no more than a provisional one. In cases where an expert witness has prepared
a report and could not assert that the report contained the truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth without some
qualification, that qualification should be stated in the report.

6. If, after exchange of reports, an expert witness changes his or her view on a matter, having read the other side’s expert’s report
or for any other reason, such change of view should be communicated (through legal representatives) to the other side without
delay, and, when appropriate, to the court.

7. Where expert evidence refers to photographs, plans, calculations, analyses, measurements, survey reports, or other similar
documents, these must be provided to the opposite party at the same time as the exchange of reports.

I am going to give you a minute to read them, but I want to emphasize that this is recent – first published in Canada
in 1996, long after we started with CSOP. The principles that we have been trying to codify in CSOP are virtually the
same principles as those seven, which have been codified into common law. There are differences between the law and
AAP (and I am going to get down to details), but not in these seven basic principles. As they say, the devil is in the
details. Now, I am going to stop and let you read them – at least the first three or four – word for word because I think
they are really important. I think that if we had had them in front of us when we started with CSOP, we might have
incorporated them directly into the standards.
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There have been, as Jim said, some fairly extensive changes in the actuarial evidence area since the last discussion draft
to the current exposure draft. In addition to the changes to the discussion draft, I am going to focus on a couple of
contentious issues that are the same as they have been all along.

CHANGES FROM DISCUSSION DRAFT TO EXPOSURE DRAFT

70% OF TIME SPENT ON CIVIL LITIGATION ISSUES
- ROLE OF AN EXPERT WITNESS IN CANADIAN LAW
- PROVINCIAL DIFFERENCES IN “OTHER CONTINGENCIES”
- AVOIDANCE OF “NOTWITHSTANDING” CLAUSE

10% OF TIME SPENT ON CRIMINAL RATE OF INTEREST
- PREVIOUS DRAFT HAD BEEN SHOT DOWN BY CONCERNS ABOUT

NEGATIVE AND IMAGINARY ROOTS TO THE EQUATION
- COURT REPORTS DEAL ONLY WITH POSITIVE, REAL ROOTS

10% OF TIME SPENT ON MARRIAGE BREAKDOWN
- 1993 STANDARD CHANGED ONLY FOR CHANGES IN CASE LAW (APPEALS

OR SUPREME COURT LEVEL)
- MINIMUM VALUE NOT NECESSARILY EQUAL TO TERMINATION VALUE
- PRO-RATA ALLOCATION IS THE STANDARD

10% OF TIME SPENT ON GENERAL CSOP STANDARDS
- NO CONTINGENCY FEE ARRANGEMENTS
INTERNAL vs EXTERNAL USER REPORTS

I have estimated that 70% of the time we spent in committee work has been with involvement in the details, as I just
mentioned, of civil litigation. This next slide shows some of the specific issues raised by practitioners at the September
2001 Seminar on Actuarial Evidence. I will comment on a few of them momentarily. I think it is important to note that,
for each of these issues, the exposure draft wording is a lot closer to the 1988 Standard than the discussion draft wording,
and so there was no need to even consider another discussion draft to incorporate these.

I have five slides dealing with specific changes made since the discussion draft. I don’t intend to go over every one of
the points that are on the slide that is showing right now, but please feel free to ask questions later about anything that
I gloss over. I am only going to talk about five of them, specifically, since they are the most contentious.
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I have highlighted Section 4230.02 in bold print. Since we started drafting CSOP for the actuarial evidence area ten years
ago, or more, our biggest problem has been to distinguish between actuarial assumptions and nonactuarial assumptions.
We couldn’t even define what those two terms meant. As you will see from the highlighted text, we gave up on the
attempt to define these terms, and, instead, we are proposing to allow the actuary to include calculations for any
assumptions and any scenarios requested by the client, with three provisos:

1. They have to be reasonable – we may have trouble with that word “reasonable”; we will discuss that later – taking into account
applicable law.

2. They do not conflict with prescribed assumptions.

3. The report discloses which assumptions were selected by the client.

So, if I were asked to do an income loss for an actuarial student that assumes he or she would have risen to be president
of the company by the age of 40, I can do so. But I should include full disclosure of the source of that assumption,
and, it is hoped, add one or two other scenarios that I personally consider more credible. On the other hand, if I were
asked to capitalize future medical costs for the future lifetime of a quadriplegic accident victim, it would usually not be
considered reasonable, credible, or even plausible to use an average population mortality table without adjustment. Well,
that was the first of the contentious issues and that is how we proposed to solve it in CSOP.

4230 ASSUMPTIONS

The actuary’s assumptions to calculate the capitalized value of amounts payable in respect of an individual should be best

estimate assumptions unless there is a reason for biased assumptions.. Except where the assumption is required by law,

the actuary should report any such reason and the resulting bias[effective date to be determined]

The actuary should ensure that any assumptions selected by the client are reasonable, taking account of applicable law,
and that they do not conflict with prescribed assumptions [effective date to be determined].

In reporting, the actuary should identify which assumptions have been selected by the client.  [effective date to be
determined]

4240 APPLICATION OF LAW

.01 In a situation where statute or case law specifies a method or assumption to be adopted in an actuarial evidence

calculation, a broad interpretation of accepted actuarial practice is applied, so that in most such situations the statute or

case law specification is within the range of accepted actuarial practice.

1310.01

If the actuary were unsure as to whether such a specification is accepted actuarial practice, he or she would consult with

the chair of the Committee on Actuarial Evidence.
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The second area where compromise has proved to be necessary is the age-old problem of conflict between actuarial
standards and a specific law. The general CSOP requirement is that we should follow the law but report the conflict.
That is Section 1310, I believe, of the General Standards of CSOP. So, because the General Standards now have final
approval, any time that we are involved in a conflict, we are supposed to follow the law and report the conflict.

That is an unsatisfactory answer in court, for two reasons:

1. Existing case law or statute law has often been established with input from actuaries who are recognized as experts in the field,
and so we cannot turn our backs on law that has been made by actuaries in the past on the court’s request.

2. The surest way to make an enemy of the judge and at least one of the two lawyers in the case is to suggest that there may be
an answer other than the one prescribed by the law.

So, we can’t go along with the General Standard, which says, “Follow the law but report the conflict.” The wording
we have used for Section 4240.01 is clumsy. It compromises principles on both sides of the debate, and the only thing
we can say it has going for it (other than the fact that Jim Paterson and Doug Townsend invented it in a telephone
conversation one afternoon) is that it avoids using the nasty “notwithstanding” clause. Nowhere in CSOP has anybody
had to use a “notwithstanding clause.” This may be the one place we should have used it.

Mr. Paterson: Would you mind telling them what a “notwithstanding clause” is?

Mr. Townsend: If you read the introduction to CSOP, an area-specific standard is allowed to say, “Notwithstanding the
general principle enunciated in the General section of CSOP, in this area of practice, we are going to do it differently.”

Mr. Paterson: In fact, the general principle is that the practice-specific standard narrows what the General Standard has
established as the standard, and if it goes the other way and broadens, it has to start with the word “notwithstanding.”
That is to be a big flag, and a signal, and so forth. We got into quite a debate as to whether this would have to be labeled
as a “notwithstanding.”

Mr. Townsend: We are going to come back to this one. When the questions are exhausted from the floor, we are going
to discuss this one further because this is probably the one biggest remaining ugly clause with which we have to deal.
It is not to change the principle, but just to get the wording a little smoother.

For example, Section 4240 comes into play when we are choosing an interest rate net of inflation for tort valuations. Each
province has its own approach to setting this rate, and generally the rate is lower than an unPfADed actuarial best estimate.
The clause also comes into play in other contingencies.
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We can do this one by example. Case law and actuarial practice in the maritime provinces require the precise calculation
of the offset to a future loss for other contingencies. This usually includes the possibility of unemployment or disability
in the case of an injury claim, or remarriage in the case of a wrongful death claim. Québec law – statute law, in this
case – goes to the other extreme. It forbids a court from reducing a quantum on account of a remarriage contingency.
Ontario and the other provinces are somewhere in between. Actuarial reports discuss, or at least mention, other contin-
gencies, as required by the 1988 Standard, but rarely do we try to quantify them. As one small town judge in northern
Ontario told me, “I can form a better assessment of the probability of this widow remarrying by looking at her, and
listening to her testimony, and seeing who she comes to the court with than by using your actuarial tables.” So, the
actuarial community is divided geographically on whether or not to calculate values net of other contingencies. Not all
of us can be, I suppose, in accordance with AAP, if we are not careful in how we word this. So, our ultimate answer
was to go back to the 1988 Standard and repeat, more or less, the same wording as we used in 1988 for the CSOP
standard. Whatever province you are operating in, you can now find justification for your existing practice in this
wording.

Those are the three major issues dealing with civil litigation which have proved to be contentious. We have one involving
marriage breakdown and another involving the criminal rate of interest that I want to talk about.

4210 CONTINGENCIES

The actuary should consider directly incorporating any material contingency where, in the actuary’s opinion, there are

adequate legal, theoretical, or empirical supporting grounds to enable this. . The actuary should disclose the omission

from the model of any contingencies he or she considers material[

If the actuary gives advice on the impact of a contingency that is not incorporated in the model used, that advice should
be based on an assessment of that contingency, both alone and in combination with other factors, using appropriate

actuarial methods. [effective date to be determined].

 The actuary’s report would show the results of the actuarial calculation based on the application of the model, and with

any provision for other contingencies not incorporated in the model as a separate adjustment.  For example, the results of

the actuarial calculation may include precise recognition of only net investment return and mortality, and any other

provision for contingencies reported as a separate adjustment.

The actuary would comment on every contingency that has been taken into account in making the calculations.  The

actuary would also state there may be other contingencies which could have a positive or negative impact and which have

not been taken into account.

Recognition of a contingency may create a positive or negative impact on a calculation.
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There is only one change from the 1993 Marriage Breakdown Standard, other than minor updates to reflect recent case
law. This is, again, an area where, if the case law has changed, we automatically update actuarial standards; we don’t
say AAP overrides the law. The 1993 Marriage Breakdown Standard allowed the actuary an exemption from full
disclosure in the case of very small pensions, but this has proved to be a trap which is almost impossible to get out of
once you are in. This is an area where we have decided to follow the accountants’ Handbook and the General CSOP
principle of internal versus external user reports.

If the plan member’s lawyer asks for a one-page report based upon retirement at age 65 only, then you can continue
to provide it, but only if it is not going to be sent to the spouse’s lawyer or used in court (unless it is a joint retainer,
of course). Unless it is a joint retainer, in fact, you can no longer assume that the spouse’s lawyer has agreed to accept
an abridged valuation or report. So, this is an area where we are changing Actuarial Evidence-Specific Standards to
comply with the General Standards to deal with internal versus external user reports.

4160 REPORTING:  INTERNAL USER REPORT

.01 Unless an internal user report conforms to the recommendation for an external user report, an internal

user report should contain a proviso that it not be given to an external user or be used in a court

proceeding.  [effective date to be determined].

For the purpose of determining if the actuary is following standards, an internal user report continues

to be an internal user report even if, in breach of the proviso required by 4170.01, it is given to an

external user or used in court.  The actuary would draft any follow-up report as an external user report

if a similar breach seems likely.
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4400 4400  Computations of Criminal Rate of Interest

4410SCOPE

.01 The standards in Section 4400 apply to an actuary’s advice when
determining whether the interest rate for a particular agreement or
arrangement is a “criminal rate”. [effective date to be determined

4420  Data…

4430 METHOD

.01 The actuary should calculate and report the effective rate of
interest compounded annually “i” such that the following equality is
established.

m n

Ar  x (1+i)tr = Bs  x (1+i)ts

r=1 s=1

where (definition of terms):

If the calculation produces only one result, then the actuary would
report that result.  If the calculation produces more than one result,
then the actuary would report only those which are positive (and real).
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Finally, as I said earlier, we have added the “Murray Segal” section to CSOP; Murray drafted this. It is only two pages
long in total and I have only a part of it up as a slide, primarily to point out that we have embedded a formula in the
standards. I don’t think there is any other area in our standards where we actually have embedded a formula in this
much detail. Have we, Jim?

Mr. Paterson: No.

Mr. Townsend: Okay, there is our precedent. The Committee on Actuarial Evidence tried to draft a standard on the
criminal rate of interest in the early 1990s but the attempt was hung up by academic concerns about the theoretical
possibility of a negative or imaginary root to the equation. You will notice that the last sentence of the proposed standards,
and the last sentence of CSOP as currently drafted, simply says that we will ignore imaginary or negative roots for practical
purposes. I don’t see anybody in the room that I recognize as a university professor, and so maybe we are going to get
away with it this time.

Those are my comments. Those are the things that we have been struggling over, as Jim said, for the last number of
years. There are a couple of minor changes that have been brought to my attention even since the Committee on Actuarial
Evidence voted strongly in favour of publishing this exposure draft. We will probably get to them after the question
period, but none of them are particularly major, other than the ones that I have mentioned already. That is the exposure
draft, subject to minor changes between now and – I don’t know exactly what our timetable is on that – the end of the
year? This is going to become our final, approved standard. Will it be early next year, Jim?

Mr. Paterson: I hope so.

Mr. Townsend: I do, too. Okay, we are open for questions at this point.

Moderator Ferguson: Thank you, Jim and Doug, for your presentations. I will now turn this over to you for any
questions or comments.

Mr. John G. McKellar: I think I may have been involved in the drafting of the 1988 Standard. The issue I am going
to bring up is that, at that time, I think we started with the pension standards and crossed out “pension” and put in
“evidence” wherever we could. There was a battle between those who wanted the actuarial evidence-specific section of
the standards to look very much like the other practice-specific standards, and a group who wanted the Actuarial
Evidence-Specific Standards to read almost like a manual for doing this work. There was a lot of preamble in that version,
and I feel as if some of that preamble has started to come back into the exposure draft. I don’t think it was in the
discussion draft. I don’t know if that is something that the committee consciously did, and I would be interested to know
if that is the case. In particular, I was looking at Section 4120 and Section 4130. I think Section 4210 is kind of similar
in that they talk about not only what the actuary should do, but also building up as to why this is better than something
else. That is fine, but I just wanted to raise that issue and see if there are some comments about it.

Mr. Paterson: I don’t think there was a deliberate effort to do that. Do you want to comment on the specific sections,
Doug?

Mr. Townsend: As you say, Jim, there was no deliberate effort. I thought you were going to refer to the sections we had
just recently changed – Section 4120 and Section 4130. There is not a lot of change in them from the discussion draft
to this exposure draft. However, you are bang-on with part of your comment at least. In areas where we got into
arguments (to use a polite word) in the last couple of months, in almost every case, what we did is go back to the 1988
Standard and see what we had already agreed to. We were certainly not going to make the current CSOP standard weaker
than what we agreed to in 1988, and if we could not agree to making it any stronger than it was, then we would decide
to freeze it at that point (the 1988 Standard). That is how we arrived at consensus on this, basically. Now, that is really
obvious in a couple points. I didn’t find that in Section 4120, for example, but it is in here in a couple of places –
specifically, the points that I have put up on the slides. There were definitely attempts to go back to the 1988 wording.
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Mr. Paterson: I don’t think we changed much from the discussion draft to the exposure draft – in Section 4120 and
Section 4130, there is very little change. In Section 4210 there is a lot of deletion, but there is not much addition. So,
I guess you must be referring to other sections.

Mr. Townsend: No, I think it was in the section that I put up as a slide.

Mr. McKellar: I’m sorry. I had the wrong numbers. It was Section 4220.

Mr. Townsend: Yes, definitely there. That is a very valid point.

Mr. Paterson: Okay, yes.

Mr. John Tarrel: There were three points that came to mind when you were going through your slides, Doug. The first
one is with Section 4230 on assumptions. The actuary should ensure that any assumptions selected by the client are
reasonable. You noted that there is obviously some interpretation involved there. If we are dealing with nonactuarial
assumptions – and frequently the things specified by the client are nonactuarial assumptions – there might be some
difficulties posed there. For example, an area in which a plaintiff lawyer may, on some occasions, specify an assumption
may be in relation to the interpretation of medical reports. Do we conclude from this that, somehow, even if it is an
interpretation of a medical report, we are required to ensure that the assumption is reasonable? I can think of many
instances where that would be a very difficult thing – a very difficult area for an actuary to stray into. That is my first
thought.

Mr. Townsend: Okay, you are the third practitioner who has brought that to my attention since we have published the
exposure draft, and I wanted to come back to it. Could you live with the word “plausible” rather than “reasonable”?
That is one suggestion that has been made.

Mr. Tarrel: Yes, I certainly would because I think if you use the word “reasonable,” then that is imposing an obligation
on me to do something that I think is outside my field of expertise.

Mr. Townsend: That is exactly the same point raised by Murray Segal.

Mr. Tarrel: I have no problem with the principle of it.

Mr. Townsend: I have had one person wanting me to drop the clause completely. Murray Segal suggests “plausible” is
a more accurate word, and I agree with him, and you agree as well.

Mr. Tarrel: Well, it’s not that I would agree with Murray very often, but, in this case, yes.

The second point I wanted to raise was in Section 4220 on contingencies. I look at Section 4220.01 where it says, “The
actuary should disclose the omission from the model of any contingencies he or she considers material.” Then, in Section
4220.04, we say, “The actuary would comment on every contingency that has been taken into account…The actuary
would also state there may be other contingencies which could have a positive or negative impact and which have not
been taken into account.”

Now, if we consider them material, we are going to deal with them, and if we consider them nonmaterial, why are we
flagging the fact that there may be nonmaterial items that haven’t been taken into account? We are inviting a whole
additional area of questions.

Mr. Townsend: This is not intended to say that you have to comment on nonmaterial contingencies that have been
ignored. Is that what you mean?

Mr. Tarrel: No, I realize that but there is the statement that there may be other contingencies which could have a positive
or negative impact. Well, that is pretty obvious; there are a lot of very “airy-fairy” contingencies that could affect almost
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every case you are dealing with, but, presumably, these are nonmaterial in nature, and, therefore, why are we bothering
to state it?

Mr. Paterson: Outside the scope of actuarial practice, they may be material, but they are not actuarial.

Mr. Tarrel: Exactly.

Mr. Paterson: But that is in the current 1988 Standard.

Mr. Tarrel: Yes, I realize that.

Mr. Paterson: As part of the consolidation process, we have maintained it.

Mr. Tarrel: Fine, if that is the basis.

Mr. Townsend: I’ll mention what the intention is supposed to be. Read it in this context, if you would, John, and see
if we have it. If we don’t, then we need to make changes. The intention is supposed to be that, in the maritime provinces
where you practice, it is common to actually try to quantify every one of these contingencies, or, at least, the material
contingencies. In Ontario, the 1988 Standard says that we are supposed to put in at least a paragraph that says, “There
may be other contingencies, both positive and negative, which may affect the value and have not been taken into
consideration, examples include…” But there need be no more than that. That is what we are trying to do.

Mr. Tarrel: So, you are trying to accommodate the diversity of practice across the country?

Mr. Townsend: Precisely. If we have worded it wrong a little bit, I want to hear about it, but I didn’t read it the way
you just said it.

Mr. Tarrel: No. If that is the context, I think that is fine.

Mr. Townsend: But is that what it says?

Mr. Tarrel: I will think about it again when I sit down, and if I don’t think it does, I will stand up again.

My third point is as follows: In Section 4160 on internal user reports, you talked about that in terms of the original
abridged text report and you talked about it in the context of a marriage breakdown situation. Obviously, this is a
requirement that applies to the general civil litigation types of reports as well. What I am really trying to do here is
understand how certain situations would fit into this.

One of the things that is happening, certainly in the maritime area, and, I am sure, elsewhere, too, is a much greater
tendency towards mandatory settlement discussion – or settlement conferences – before a judge. In fact, it is now a
requirement in many provinces that a settlement discussion be done before the case can be sent to trial. As a result of
that, there is also a greater incidence of what I would call “informal settlement discussion” conferences going on. For
example, it is not uncommon for me to receive a request to provide something other than a report that would be used
in court, which would generally be called a settlement discussion memorandum. Sometimes it is requested by one
counsel, or sometimes two counsels agree that this should be put together for purposes of the discussions that they are
going to have in front of the judge. What area does that fall into in terms of reporting? A document like that, which
I would prepare, would normally say, “This document is not in a format for use in the courts and would not be suitable
for that purpose. In the event that the case goes to trial, a formal actuarial report should be prepared, etc.” That is the
kind of wording that I would have in it. Where does that fall in the context of this reporting section?

Mr. Townsend: You need to go back to the General Standards and see the definitions of internal versus external user
reports.

Mr. Tarrel: Yes, I looked at that.
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Mr. Townsend: For what you are saying, I think it would depend on whether both lawyers requested it or just one lawyer
requested it.

Mr. Tarrel: Well, there are some cases of one and some cases of both.

Mr. Townsend: When you are working for both lawyers and it is obvious you are not out to help one person more than
the other person (and both parties agree to it), you can get away with not going into the same amount of detail as if
you were working for an insurance company and writing a memo to the president. When you are dealing with an
external party and the lawyer is going to send the report over to the other side, we are saying that you can’t shortcut
our process.

Mr. Tarrel: Yes, but if you look at Section 4170.01, it says, “Unless an internal user report conforms to the recommen-
dation for an external user report, an internal user report should contain a proviso that it not be given to an external
user or be used in a court proceeding.” Well, in the instance where an internal user report might be requested by one
lawyer, I would provide it to the lawyer. I wouldn’t prohibit him from making it available to the other lawyer when
they are having a settlement conference in front of a judge, and, even if I did, I would have no control over it.

Mr. Townsend: I think you need to go back to the General Standard once again. We are not really narrowing the General
Standard here, we are applying the General Standard, which is now in effect, and just trying to explain it, and how
it applies in this area.

Mr. Tarrel: Okay.

Mr. Thomas (Tom) J. Walker: I think in that instance, when you are intending to do an internal report, it is a good
idea to actually include the term “internal report.”

Mr. Tarrel: Okay, so rather than calling it a settlement discussion, I would describe it as an “internal user report.”

Mr. Townsend: Our friend, the accountant up in Peterborough, is the one who suggested we do this, believe it or not.
Yes, calling it an internal report or using stronger wording that says, “Hey, this is not intended to comply with standards,
is not to be used in court, and shouldn’t be given to the other side as if it were an actuarial report,” is a good idea.

Mr. Paterson: Should we have a paragraph of Roman type explaining that a document like this ought to be treated as
an internal report?

Mr. Townsend: Yes, it wouldn’t hurt.

Mr. Paterson: It seems to me that if that is what we mean, it would probably be useful to explain it.

Mr. Walker: If you have been retained by both lawyers, or even if your lawyer tells you that it is going to be shared
with the other side, but it is not intended to be a formal report, would it be feasible to address the report to both lawyers
and possibly even the mediator, and call it an internal user report?

Mr. Townsend: I would do that as a matter of course, but I don’t think you have to, formally. I don’t think we need
to state that in the standards, do we?

Mr. Walker: (Inaudible)

Unidentified Speaker: No, I don’t.

Mr. Tarrel: Okay, there are some ways around it.

Mr. Townsend: The most frequent time it comes up is in marriage breakdown situations where somebody says, “I just
want a one-page report showing the value for age 65.” I would find it hard to believe the other lawyer has already agreed
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to that. I want to hear that the other lawyer is jointly retaining me before I would do that, and I want to hear it from
the other lawyer.

Moderator Ferguson: Are there any other questions or comments?

Mr. Townsend: In order to give people time to think about it a little more, could we all focus on that one paragraph
– what was it, Section 4240 or Section 4210? The one that has the wording about expanding AAP for whatever we need.

Unidentified Speaker: It is Section 4240.

Mr. Townsend: It is Section 4240, on the application of law. Tom is at the microphone, and so we will take your question
first, Tom.

Mr. Walker: I just want to say that I was involved in the early stages of developing these standards in actuarial evidence,
and I have read a lot of people’s comments over time. I did a quick read-through of the exposure draft as soon as it
came out. I would just like to comment that, in reading it, there was nothing that jumped out at me that made me say,
“I can’t live with that and it is not good for actuarial evidence.” So, I actually think that this is a very good document,
and, except for some minor things that have been identified here, I would strongly endorse this.

Mr. Townsend: Thank you, Tom.

Mr. Paterson: Thanks, Tom.

Mr. Townsend: Let us go back to Section 4240.01. Should we have used a “notwithstanding” clause? Would it have
been smoother wording? I am not sure what my own opinion is on that, but I wanted to ask you (the audience) that
specifically.

Moderator Ferguson: You should also think of Section 4240 in terms of other practitioners in other areas who may find
that a deviation from AAP.

Mr. Townsend: I believe this is the only area of standards where we are setting a standard for an area where you don’t
have to be an FCIA to be an expert. Therefore, we are head-to-head against economists and accountants who don’t have
anything like this standard to contend with. It is a non-starter to suggest that we can report all exceptions from actuarial
standards in this area. I have had lawyers from BC to Ontario tell me that if we do things like this, they will start using
accountants or economists. The question is, how do we make an exception in the smoothest, most understandable way?
A “notwithstanding” clause has not been used anywhere else in the standards, and so I would really hate this to be the
one exception. The best way of putting it is that nobody is happy with the current wording. There was even a half-
hour discussion at PSC, I think, over this one issue. So, we are sure looking for input and suggestions.

Mr. Walker: From an actuarial point of view, I don’t mind the wording the way it is here. When actuaries know they
are doing something that might not be AAP, I don’t think they should necessarily say, “This is not accepted actuarial
practice.” But if they are applying this law or statute, I think that is the time when you use wording like, “You have
advised according to legal precedent that this is the situation.” Or in Ontario, “According to Section 53.09 (Courts of
Justice Act – Revised Regulations of Ontario, 1990, Regulation 194, or ‘Rules of Civil Procedure’), that is where we
selected our discount rate.” So, I think the actuary should make sure he or she is covered off in the wording, without
saying it doesn’t follow AAP because this means it is following AAP.

Mr. Paterson: Yes, I think we have widened AAP a little with this paragraph. The general approach with “conflict with
law” is that the actuary is supposed to say, “There is a conflict here. I have done it your way, but it is not accepted
actuarial practice.”
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Mr. Townsend: We don’t have wording, Tom, that forces us to say, “In accordance with law, I have followed Section
53.09(01) of Rules of Civil Procedure, in selecting the interest rate to be used for this, but I remind you that this is not
accepted actuarial practice.”

Mr. Paterson: This is intended to avoid that.

Mr. Townsend: We know what we want to get at; it is a question of how we want to word it.

Mr. Paterson: In most areas of practice, there was pretty good unanimity that it was appropriate to identify when you
are doing something that you are forced to do but it isn’t good practice.

Mr. Townsend: Yes, but, as I said, in most other areas of practice, they are doing something that is required to be done
by actuaries.

Mr. Paterson: Yes, that is right.

Mr. H. Wayne Woods: Recently, we have been criticized for using the law. There is an article in Law Times, a legal
publication, which basically says that actuaries are not giving fair values to personal injury cases. Obviously, we are
following the law in using Rule 53.09 of Rules of Civil Procedure; however, some feel that using the three structured
settlement values is more appropriate because they reflect market values, whereas we are just following the law. So, I think
that this is a problem that we are starting to face – using the law versus what we would call “our assumptions” as to
what a real market value would be.

Mr. Townsend: Yes, but Rule 53.09(01) (Rules of Civil Procedure) describes what you would use for an indexed
payment, not what you would use for a structured settlement. I don’t think that is applicable.

Mr. Tarrel: I am just wondering if we are getting hung up on technicalities here. Looking back at the definition of AAP,
it is, “The consensus of the actuarial profession on how work should be done.” (Section 1110.02, General Standards)
Now, I would have great difficulty arguing that work should be done other than in accordance with the law or
regulations. (Inaudible)

Mr. Paterson: No, it is more subtle than that. We always have to follow the law when there is a conflict. But in the other
areas of practice, we have to point out in our report that there was a conflict and say, “The way I did it was the way
the law demands and it is not following accepted actuarial practice.” We have to add that extra phrase in the other areas
of practice.

Mr. Tarrel: But in this area that we are talking about, I assume the main concern is about the net discount rate or rates
that are being used.

Mr. Townsend: Well, it is more than that. Remember, we are talking about provincial differences – how we can’t all be
following AAP if you are putting in all these other contingencies. If people are doing it differently, which one of them
is AAP? They can’t all be.

Mr. Tarrel: Yes, but are you talking about contingencies?

Mr. Townsend: Yes, I am talking about all of the various things where we do something because of variances in provincial
law, and so we follow the law.

Mr. Tarrel: But these are not variations in the law. I mean, I would argue with you that if we were required to reflect
all contingencies that are material, then you should, in fact, be including all the other assumptions.
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Mr. Townsend: Even though Québec law may say that you don’t do it specifically?

Mr. Tarrel: Well, yes, okay, or Prince Edward Island law in the case of marriage breakdowns and remarriage.

Mr. Paterson: I thought there were some cases in Ontario where the judges specifically didn’t want the actuary’s opinion
on some of these contingencies.

Mr. Tarrel: Yes, and there are a number of cases in the maritimes in which judges have said, “Don’t you bring up with
me, again, a variation of the 2.5% net discount rate because I am tired of hearing that argument, and I don’t want you
in my court if you are doing that.”

Mr. Paterson: So, we have tried to come up with language that allows actuaries in both provinces to do it and not feel
awkward about their reports.

Mr. Townsend: Everybody in other practice areas would like us to change this particular section in the Actuarial
Evidence-Specific Standard. They don’t like this one. We are just trying to see if we can come up with anything better.

Mr. Woods: I would just like to continue this discussion on what I said before. I am referring specifically to personal
injury cases where we have to value future statutory accident benefits (SABs), which are the no-fault payments. We put
a value on that using Rule 53.09(02) of Rules of Civil Procedure which is quite a different value than if we were asked,
as actuaries, “What is the present value of a nonindexed payment until age 65 and another payment after age 65.” The
structured settlement folks, the salesmen, are basically giving these numbers on a market value basis, and the criticism
is that the numbers that we produce in our reports are not realistic as the present value of these payments.

Mr. Paterson: Well, shouldn’t we be speaking to the legislators about changing that section of the Act to either allow
actuaries to use their best judgment or to prescribe something more realistic?

Mr. Townsend: Wayne, I think you are the only one doing it that way. Everybody else values a gross income loss based
upon 2.5%, and then the value of an SAB at 6.09% or 5.83%.

Mr. Woods: Most definitely you use 5.83%, but you are using Rule 53.09 of Rules of Civil Procedure, whereas the market
values that are being produced are different than the values we produce using Rule 53.09.

Mr. Townsend: The Law Times article criticizes us for using 2.5% for SABs, and I don’t know anybody who would use
2.5%.

Mr. Woods: Yes, I agree with you, but what is happening is that we are using 5.83%. If the market value is different
than the 5.83%, we get a significant difference, especially for young disability cases.

Mr. Townsend: We are now getting away from the topic.

Mr. Paterson: Are you suggesting there should be any change to the draft of the standards?

Mr. Woods: No.

Mr. Paterson: Thanks.

Mr. Townsend: Do you like this wording as it is?

Mr. Woods: It is probably the most compromised way. (Inaudible)

Mr. Paterson: You mean that in a good sense, I take it.

Mr. Tarrel: In spite of my comments, I am reasonably happy with this wording, as well.
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Mr. Paterson: Thank you.

Mr. Peter Martin: My only comment is that, short of sitting down and thinking about this for a while, I would, perhaps,
take out, “…so that, in most such situations…” (from Section 4240.01) There either is or there isn’t. If the law says you
do it this way, it is either AAP, broadly, or it isn’t.

Mr. Townsend: I don’t think we can throw out AAP completely for this. If it is truly outrageous, I would – well, I will
give you a good example. Prejudgment interest in Ontario is calculated as simple interest in most cases. Finally, we have
had a case where the courts have decided that since both parties were financially literate, it is ridiculous to use simple
interest rather than compound interest. I think actuaries should be pointing out that simple interest dates back to the
pre-calculator days. This is an area where I feel we can get the law changed by continuing to remind legislators that
not only does AAP differ from current law, but also that the current law is stupid.

Mr. Paterson: The current wording allows you, if you are brave enough, to make the statement that it is not AAP.

Mr. Townsend: Yes, I wouldn’t do it in every case. I would want “retractability” on that one in practice. I don’t know
if that is what you are driving at, Peter.

Mr. Martin: It isn’t that this would stop anyone from putting in a statement that there should be compound interest,
or whatever. They will get the message soon enough that the court judges don’t want to hear certain comments. But
should we be saying, “…so that in most such situations, the statute or case law specification is within the range of AAP?”
We either accept the law or we don’t.

Mr. Paterson: If we were to say that the law is AAP in all cases, I think you will find actuaries in other practice areas
saying, “That is going too far.” I am not sure the Practice Standards Council (PSC) would accept it, for example. It would
make it much more controversial internally.

Mr. Townsend: Peter, the question is not whether we are going to follow the law or not. Section 1310 of the General
Standards says we follow the law. But it then goes on to say we report the conflict. This is a question of, under what
circumstances do we not have to report the conflict?

Mr. Paterson: (Inaudible)

Mr. Martin: In other words, you can decide when you think it is sufficient.

Mr. Townsend: Yes. How much do you have to hold your nose to do it the way the law says? If you really have to
hold your nose, then maybe you will feel better if you report the conflict.

Mr. Martin: It will take me a while to figure out wording better than this, then.

Mr. Townsend: I haven’t got an answer to that one. I think there is a lot of judgment involved. You have to consider
whether or not your client will appreciate a statement saying that what you have done is not AAP. Quite often, you will
put it in and the client will say, “I can’t take it to court that way. Take it out.” Now, you have judgment problems.

Mr. Paterson: That particular paragraph has caused us a lot of discussion, and a lot of grief, too, I suppose.

Mr. Townsend: Yes, more than any other one because this is the heart of the difference between actuarial evidence practice
and other areas.

Mr. Paterson: We spent a lot of time at the last General Meeting on this issue. We had different wording then, but it
is the same concept, and we spent quite a bit of time then, too.
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Mr. Townsend: To those who have been really critical of this, I have been saying, “The only reason we have a green
document (an exposure draft) with us today is because Jim and I agreed on a compromise.” We are not happy with
a compromise, but we are equally unhappy with it. Maybe that is a good testament.

Moderator Ferguson: Doug, on that point, correct me if I am wrong, but I think one of the concerns raised on this
particular Section 4240 is that if other laws are made in other areas of practice that force us to do something we don’t
like to do and because one standard allows it to be done this way, will it spread to other practice areas? Wasn’t that one
of the concerns?

Mr. Townsend: Well, the other areas will have to fight the battle to get it in their practice-specific standards at that point,
I guess.

Mr. Paterson: They don’t have those in their practice areas.

Mr. Townsend: This is the only place that anything like this appears in any of the practice-specific standards.

I said there were three things that have been brought to my attention since the exposure draft document. We have been
discussing one of them, obviously, and that was Section 4240. We have also discussed another one, where “reasonable”
should be changed to “plausible” (Section 4230.02). The third and final one that has come to my attention, so far, is
the very last sentence of the very last clause of CSOP (Section 4430), where we need to add the words “positive” and
“real” to be technically correct. Jim has already picked up on that one, and we will make that change.

Mr. Walker: I have a question about that. If it is not real, how do we know it is positive? Once you have shown that
it is positive, unreal is not possible, I think.

Mr. Paterson: Phone Murray Segal. Do you have an alternate wording to propose?

Mr. Walker: I just like it the way it is – as worded in the exposure draft, with “positive” the only requirement.

Mr. Townsend: Tom is under the opinion that if it is positive then it must be real.

Mr. Walker: Yes. If it is positive, it must be real. Unreal isn’t necessarily positive or negative, is it?

Mr. Paterson: I don’t know the answer. My math isn’t strong enough to answer your question.

Mr. Townsend: Murray’s answer is that this is as much an educational note as it is a standard, and that anybody doing
it for the first time can actually follow this and come up with the right answer. So, let’s not let anybody get confused
on that point.

Mr. Walker: (Inaudible)

Mr. Townsend: Should we get somebody in from Waterloo to tell us?

Mr. Walker: We have just created (inaudible) for an interest rate.

Mr. Townsend: So far, nobody has been brave enough to stand up and say they have any serious problems with the
principles that we have exposed in here. Can we take that as meaning there are no serious conflicts? Or would somebody
like to use this opportunity to jump up and say that we have been going down the wrong road for a long time? Speak
now or forever hold your peace on that basic principle.

Unidentified Speaker: We have until the end of August, don’t we?

Mr. Paterson: You have until July 15.
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Moderator Ferguson: Yes, the deadline for written comments is July 15, 2002.

Mr. Townsend: Let the record show that I did ask the question.

Moderator Ferguson: Are there any other questions or comments? If there aren’t any, once again, thank you, Jim and
Doug, for your presentations and the good work, and thank you for your participation.

Mr. Paterson: And the line-up forms over here for applicants for that position on the Committee on CSOP to steer the
final draft home. So, please come up and volunteer; we need one more actuarial evidence person.

1Richard Cann, not enrolled in the Institute, is employed at Morneau Sobeco.


